



Master's thesis

BINITA NEPAL Process Management

SUPERVISOR :

MENTOR: Mevrouw Leen JOOKEN

UHASSELT KNOWLEDGE IN ACTION

www.uhasselt.be Universiteit Hasselt Campus Hasselt: Martelarenlaan 42 | 3500 Hasselt Campus Diepenbeek: Agoralaan Gebouw D | 3590 Diepenbeek



Faculty of Business Economics Master of Management

Business Process Insights Through Data Visualizations

Thesis presented in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Management, specialization Business

Prof. dr. Benoit DEPAIRE

2023 2024

|___



Faculty of Business Economics Master of Management

Master's thesis

Business Process Insights Through Data Visualizations

BINITA NEPAL

Thesis presented in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Management, specialization Business Process Management

SUPERVISOR : Prof. dr. Benoit DEPAIRE

MENTOR : Mevrouw Leen JOOKEN

Preface

This research study is part of the thesis requirement for a master's degree in Management specializing in Business Process Management. It concludes the journey to earn a master's degree.

This journey has been fascinating, characterized by personal development and the pursuit of excellence. Thinking back on the journey that brought me to this point, I am very grateful for the guidance and support that have helped shape my work.

I appreciate my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Benoit Depaire, and my mentor, Miss Leen Jooken, whose guidance has been a fundamental aspect of this journey. The unwavering support, insightful feedback, and encouragement have been invaluable. Their expertise and constructive feedback also motivated me to pursue perfection. I am grateful for the invaluable efforts which have played a crucial role in achieving this significant milestone.

On a personal note, I would like to express my gratitude to my husband, Paribartan Poudel, for his continuous support and encouragement in finishing this journey.

Binita Nepal August, 2024

Summary

Research Purpose

In the rapidly evolving and competitive banking sector, data-driven decision-making is critical for operational efficiency, risk management, and customer satisfaction. However, the sheer volume and complexity of data generated by digitalized banking processes make it challenging to extract actionable insights. There is a lack of specific knowledge regarding the most suitable data visualization techniques for presenting banking insights, particularly in crucial processes such as loan approval and customer onboarding. This gap limits the ability of bank managers to make informed, data-driven decisions that could enhance process efficiency and effectiveness.

Due to digitalization and the increasing adoption of IT systems, the banking sector produces vast amounts of data. This data holds immense potential for improving decision-making and operational efficiency, yet its value can only be fully realized when effectively visualized to provide clear and actionable insights. Different data visualization techniques offer varying strengths and limitations, but without proper guidance, banking managers may struggle to select the appropriate techniques to achieve specific insights from critical business processes.

The research questions guiding this study are:

- 1. What insights do managers seek from banking processes?
- 2. Which visualization techniques are they currently using to extract these insights from the data?
- 3. How can process data be most effectively visualized to achieve specific process insights?

This study aims to bridge the knowledge gap by evaluating current data visualization techniques used by bank managers in the context of loan approval and customer onboarding processes. Through a comprehensive academic literature, this research identifies the most appropriate visualization techniques for achieving specific insights. The ultimate goal is to provide practical recommendations that guide bank managers in selecting and using data visualization techniques that best suit their needs, enhancing their ability to make data-driven decisions.

Research Methodology

The study used qualitative research methodology to explore insights managers seek from two banking processes customer onboarding and loan approval—and their data visualization techniques. Purposive sampling was used to identify five bank managers directly participating in these processes. Data was collected using semi-structured interviews. The data was analyzed using narrative analysis and in vivo coding to identify key insights and visualization techniques. Finally, the study evaluated the insights managers seek against various visualization techniques from literature results to propose a best-suited method. The suitability of different visualization techniques was assessed based on the data type and the purpose of visualization. The goal was to recommend the most appropriate techniques for extracting specific insights into banking processes.

Interview Results

Based on the results of the interview, it was found that from the loan approval process, managers seek insights such as total time taken to process loan applications, loan application volume and the approval rate, cost per loan application processed, demand trends for loans, and the composition of loan portfolio composition and their performance metrics. These insights are helpful for bank managers in optimizing and ensuring the efficiency of the loan approval process, identify bottlenecks, allocate resources effectively, detect fraud, evaluate cost-effectiveness, understand and predict market demand patterns, and manage risk by reducing or adjusting potential risk.

Similarly, in the customer onboarding process, managers seek insights such as customer onboarding time, preferred channels by customers to onboard, major drop-off points and their rates, customer satisfaction level, and the error types and frequency encountered during the onboarding process. These insights are essential for bank managers to enhance the customer onboarding process. By closely monitoring these key metrics, managers can streamline operations, improve customer satisfaction, and ensure efficient and pleasant onboarding experiences.

Managers use a range of techniques, such as bar charts, line charts, tables, lists, and pie charts, to obtain insights from loan approval and customer onboarding processes. The findings indicate that each manager seeks different insights from their managing process and uses general visualization techniques to get these insights.

Evaluation Results

The research evaluated the suitability of data visualization techniques based on the visualization techniques obtained from the literature. It recommended the most effective techniques for extracting specific insight sought by managers. The evaluation of different techniques was based on the data type and the purpose of visualization. The study aims to guide banking sector managers in choosing and utilizing the right visualization technique to achieve specific insights that enhance decision-making and operational efficiency.

The evaluation results suggested that alternative visualization techniques, such as grouped bar charts, dual-axes charts, stacked bar charts, line charts, bubble charts, heatmaps, and funnel charts, provide more detail and a clear view and offer significant advantages over the ones used by managers.

It was found that grouped bar charts are appropriate for detailed comparisons across multiple categories and subcategories, for instance, comparing the turnaround time for processing loan applications by loan type and the time to onboard customers by customer type. It is also effective in comparing the satisfaction level of customers across different onboarding stages. In addition, the grouped bar chart effectively identifies and compares several types of errors encountered in the onboarding stages and the frequency of errors. When there are many error types, heat maps effectively provide a quick overview of stages with the highest error type.

A dual-axes chart provides insights into relationships between two different metrics on the same graph. For instance, it can effectively compare and identify loan application volume trends and approval rate trends.

Similarly, a stacked bar chart helps understand the breakdown of categories along with total value. For instance, it can be used to compare the total cost incurred while processing loan applications by type and cost breakdown by application status (approved and rejected).

The line chart is effective in comparing and identifying trends. For instance, the trend of loan demand for different loan types can be visualized using line charts.

A bubble chart can present three dimensions of data, providing a comprehensive view of the loan portfolio composition and default rate based on loan types.

A funnel chart visualizes a process's stages and helps identify the stage that needs improvement. For instance, it can visualize a complete view of the onboarding process stages and highlight the customer drop-off points and rates. Overall, these visualization techniques make interpreting data accurately and making informed decisions easier, providing a clearer picture than simpler methods. The study also aligns with the previous studies on data visualization, emphasizing the significance of choosing visualization techniques according to the data type and purpose of visualization. The evaluation results also validate the utility of the recommended techniques in gaining specific insights.

Practical Implications and Research Limitations

Managers can use these findings to enhance their decision-making process, particularly in the banking sector. Most importantly, they can use the overview of recommended visualization techniques to get more accurate insights effectively. They can use the presented overview as guidance to select an appropriate technique based on their purpose. The implications of these findings are significant for bank managers and decision-makers managing the loan approval process and customer onboarding process. By utilizing the most effective visualization techniques, managers can enhance their ability to interpret and understand data and make informed decisions; they can get more precise insights into critical performance metrics, identify trends, assess risks, and detect inefficiencies in processes, enabling more informed decision-making. Effective visualizations can enhance understanding of loan defaults, process bottlenecks, customer pain points, and fraud detection, leading to better resource allocation and improved customer experiences.

However, despite its importance, the study has limitations, including a narrow focus on two specific banking processes that may limit applicability to other sectors. The study's reliance on subjective assessments of data collected from a limited sample size and evaluation of visualization techniques using subjective assessments may introduce bias. Additionally, there is not a single "best" visualization, as it is heavily dependent on the purpose and available data types, and this research serves more as a guidance.

Future research could address these issues by expanding the range of banking processes studied, incorporating larger and more diverse samples, and using objective assessments to validate visualization techniques. Additionally, exploring how user expertise affects the effectiveness of visualizations and testing these techniques across different domains could provide further insights.

Table of Contents

| 1 | Introduction7 |
|---|---|
| 2 | Literature Review9 |
| | 2.1 Business Processes in Banking Sector |
| | 2.2 Data Visualization and its Importance in the Banking Sector |
| | 2.3 Overview of Data Visualization Techniques |
| 3 | Method 23 |
| | 3.1 Research Design |
| | 3.2 Participant Selection |
| | 3.3 Data Collection |
| | 3.4 Data Analysis |
| | 3.5 Evaluation of Insights and Visualization Techniques |
| 4 | Findings 24 |
| 5 | Evaluation 27 |
| 6 | Discussion 41 |
| 7 | Conclusion |
| 8 | References 45 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1: Line Graph | 13 |
|--|----|
| Figure 2: Area Chart | 14 |
| Figure 3: Stacked Area Chart | 14 |
| Figure 4: Grouped Bar Chart | 15 |
| Figure 5: Stacked Bar Chart | 16 |
| Figure 6: Pie Chart | 17 |
| Figure 7: Donut Pie Chart | 17 |
| Figure 8: Exploded Pie Chart | 18 |
| Figure 9: Scatter Plot | 18 |
| Figure 10: Bubble Chart | 19 |
| Figure 11: Heat Map | 20 |
| Figure 12: Funnel Chart | 21 |
| Figure 13: Dual Axes Chart | 21 |
| Figure 14: Turnaround Time Taken | 28 |
| Figure 15: Loan Application Volume and Approval Rate | 29 |
| Figure 16: Cost per Loan Processed | 30 |
| Figure 17: Loan Demand Trend | 32 |
| Figure 18: Loan Portfolio Performance and Default Rate | |
| Figure 19: Customer Onboarding Time | 34 |
| Figure 20: Preferred Channels to Onboard | 35 |
| Figure 21: Customer Drop-off Point and Rate | 36 |
| Figure 22: Customer Satisfaction Level | |
| Figure 23: Types and Frequency of Errors | 39 |
| | |

List of Tables

| Table 1: Overview of Data Visualization Techniques | .22 |
|--|-------|
| Table 2: Loan Approval Process Insights | .25 |
| Table 3: Customers Onboarding Process Insights | .27 |
| Table 4: Summary - Evaluating Data Visualization Techniques Against Insights | 40 |
| Tuolo II Summary Divaruaning Dua Visuanzarion Toominquos rigamist misignis | • • • |

Business Process Insights Through Data Visualizations

Binita Nepal

Abstract. The banking sector has experienced a substantial increase in the volume of data generated from financial transactions and customer interactions as a result of the digital transformation. This data is an asset for the banking sector for acquiring insights that can be used to make strategic decisions and operational enhancements. However, the challenge lies in effectively visualizing this data to extract actionable insights, especially in critical processes such as loan approval and customer onboarding. To address this problem, this study evaluated various data visualization techniques to determine their suitability for presenting insights related to loan approval and customer onboarding processes. For this, interviews were conducted with bank managers to identify the specific insights they sought and the techniques they used to get these insights. Then, the suitability of various data visualization techniques was evaluated based on the literature, and the most appropriate technique to achieve these insights was recommended. The study found that managers used effective visualization techniques such as bar charts, line charts, pie charts, and tables. Furthermore, this study contributes an overview of the insights managers seek in the loan approval and onboarding processes, where grouped charts, stacked charts, line charts, pie charts, bubble charts, and funnel charts are the most suitable visualization techniques for these insights. Managers can use this overview as a guidance to select appropriate techniques to achieve specific insight. Furthermore, this study emphasizes the significance of appropriate data visualization techniques in the banking sector in obtaining precise and actionable insights. Banks can enhance customer experience, optimize operational efficiency, and improve decision-making using the most effective visualization techniques.

Keywords: Business Process Management, Data Visualization, Data Visualization Techniques, Insights, Banking Processes

1 Introduction

To thrive in today's competitive business world, one must have a deep understanding of various business processes. In any organization, several procedures, also called processes, make it possible for the business to carry out its regular operations. A group of logically connected actions taken to accomplish a specific business objective is known as a "business process" [1]. Business processes are fundamental to all companies[2]. Therefore, a detailed understanding of their business processes is crucial for organizations to effectively manage the series of actions, identify and rectify deviations, and ensure that tasks are executed correctly to achieve specific business objectives [3].

Organizations put much effort into studying and improving their business processes to boost operational efficiency. However, a company's efficiency and capacity to compete are heavily influenced by how well it can get valuable insights from its business processes [4]. The significance of using data to get insights into different business processes is becoming more evident in today's corporate environment. Organizations can uncover hidden inefficiencies by leveraging data analytics tools and techniques, predict future performance, and proactively address potential issues before they escalate[5]. Data-driven insights enable businesses to better comprehend their operations, spot trends and patterns, and make educated choices that promote continuous progress[6].

Further, insights have been defined in numerous ways by various scholars. For instance, [7] described insights as "complex, deep, qualitative, unexpected, and relevant revelations." Additionally, "insights" in the field of visualization are usually thought of as discrete pieces of "information" or "knowledge"[8], [9], [10] defined "insights" as observations, hypotheses, and generalizations directly retrieved from the data. On the contrary, trends and comparisons are considered insights [11].

As the size of businesses continues to rise, companies are producing large amounts of data, making it challenging to efficiently extract meaningful insights from the massive amount of data and gain a clear and comprehensive understanding of data [12]. Nevertheless, data visualization tools and techniques offer a powerful solution to businesses, as the primary objective of data visualization is to reduce the complexity of data and improve problem-solving abilities by presenting data in a visual format [13].

There is a growing recognition that visualizing process data can provide valuable insights and aid in identifying areas for improvement [14], by presenting complex data in an easy-to-understand form [15]. Data visualization is a powerful tool for getting actionable insights, as it helps to understand data better and facilitates the identification of patterns, hidden stories, trends, and relationships in data that are challenging to understand from raw data[16], [17].

In recent years, with the development of information technologies and digitalization, a vast amount of data is being produced and processed in different sectors. One business sector that creates vast amounts of data is the banking sector. It is well known that most banks have implemented digitalization to provide consumers with superior and more timely services and to remain competitive. Implementing digital technologies in the banking sector has enhanced accessibility and convenience for customers, thereby facilitating the expansion of the client base and cost reduction [18]. However, due to digitalization, there has been a dramatic increase in the volume of data produced by banks because of a massive client base using banking services, an increase in the digitalization of services, the growth of digital payment, and the use of IT systems supporting banks' business processes [19]. Banks' vast amount of data is critical for making informed decisions.

These data give banks an opportunity to gain new insights, understand what customers want, and lower risks. Insights obtained from data empower financial institutions to detect and prevent fraud in financial transactions, manage and mitigate potential risks, enhance customer satisfaction, help optimize operations and make informed decisions, help to understand customer behavior, optimize internal processes, and improve security through fraud management[20], [21]. Using insights, banks can streamline processes across organizational divisions, products, customers, and even countries, which results in significant savings while improving the cost-to-savings ratio [22]. Overall, data insights are essential for banks because banks rely on accurate and actionable data insights to make better decisions, improve the customer experience, make operations more efficient, and manage risks.

The critical nature of the decision-making in the banking sector requires accurate and effective data visualization techniques to interpret data and extract actionable insights. While the data has the potential for enhancing decision-making and operational efficiency, the primary challenge lies in effectively analyzing and utilizing these data to extract actionable insights. The banking sector deals with highly sensitive and complex datasets, including financial transactions and customer information, which require precise and clear visualization techniques to be accurately interpreted. There are various data visualization techniques, and knowing which visualization technique is appropriate to get specific insight to make an informed decision is essential, as the effectiveness of data visualization influences data-driven decision-making [23]. However, there needs to be more specific knowledge on which data visualization

techniques are most suitable for presenting banking insights, particularly in critical processes like loan approval and customer onboarding, and whether these techniques are used in practice. This knowledge could improve the extraction of accurate insights and the ability of bank managers or decision-makers to make accurate data-driven decisions.

For this reason, this study focuses on current data visualization techniques used by managers in the banking sector and cross-references these with proven data visualization techniques obtained from the literature to evaluate whether the techniques used are suitable to extract insights and recommend the most appropriate method. The selection of appropriate visualization techniques is based on the purpose of visualization and the data type used.

The research questions guiding this study are:

- 1. What insights do managers seek from banking processes?
- 2. Which visualization techniques are they currently using to extract these insights from the data?
- 3. How to most effectively visualize process data to achieve specific process insights?

This research provides an overview of visualization techniques and their purpose, strengths, and limitations, which are compiled from literature; an overview of insights banking managers seek to extract from the two processes compiled from interviews; and an evaluation of various techniques to recommend the most appropriate technique that is suitable to achieve a specific insight.

This study intends to provide knowledge on using the right visualization techniques to get specific insights and guide managers in the banking sector in selecting and using data visualization techniques that suit their specific needs. To this end, a literature study is carried out to provide an overview of general data visualization techniques along with their purpose, strengths, and weaknesses. Then, various insights from two banking processes and the techniques used to get those insights are collected from the interviews with bank managers. Finally, the results from the interview are compared with the results from the literature study to identify the most appropriate technique to achieve a specific insight.

This paper is structured as follows. Section 1 contains the study context, research gap, and research questions and outlines the structure of the paper. Section 2 describes the results of a literature review. Section 3 describes the research design and methods used in the study. Section 4 presents the findings from the interviews conducted with bank managers. Section 5 evaluates visualization techniques based on their ability to achieve insights identified from the interview. Section 6 discusses and interprets the findings from interviews and the evaluation results. Section 7 concludes the paper by summarizing the study and suggests future research.

2 Literature Review

This literature review aims to provide a comprehensive overview of data visualization techniques and their intended applications, with a particular emphasis on the banking sector and general applications. The review will examine the critical business processes in the banking sector that rely on data visualization and identify the current literature on effective visualization techniques for these processes. Furthermore, it seeks to highlight gaps in the literature regarding the application of these techniques in the banking sector and provide a comprehensive overview of common visualization techniques, their uses, their strengths, and limitations.

2.1 Business Processes in Banking Sector

Business processes in the commercial bank encompass a wide range of activities and procedures in which resources are used to create banking products and services to satisfy customer demands, deliver timely banking products, and ensure the smooth operation of a bank. The business processes of the bank can be categorized into:

Fundamental Processes. These are customer-facing activities such as introducing customers to products and services, lending services, deposits, and card services to meet their needs [24].

Secondary Processes. These activities support the functioning of the bank's fundamental and administrative activities, such as accounting, reporting, and maintaining cash flow [24].

For the study purpose, fundamental processes such as a) the customer onboarding process [25], [26] and b) the loan approval process [27], [28], [29], [30], [31] were used. The focus on the customer onboarding and loan approval processes in this study is driven by the critical importance of customer relationships and loan processing in the banking sector.

Customer onboarding is the first point of interaction between a bank and its customers. It is the gateway to establishing a long-term customer relationship that impacts customer satisfaction, loyalty, and retention. On the other hand, the loan approval process is fundamental to a bank's revenue generation and risk management. It involves accessing the creditworthiness of customers which directly impacts the bank's financial health and risk exposure.

Customer Onboarding Process. The customer onboarding process is the series of activities involved in introducing a new customer to the bank's products and services. Generally, it begins with the customer showing interest in the bank's offering. This process involves fulfilling various procedures such as document collection, ID verification, and Know Your Customer (KYC) checks, and then new customers start using the bank's products and services [32]. The main objective of customer onboarding is to foster long-term positive relationships through an excellent onboarding journey.

Loan Approval Process. The loan approval process refers to all the activities involved before the loan is approved and sanctioned. The loan approval process begins with a loan request application by a customer (borrower) to the bank (lender). It includes a step-by-step process of reviewing documents, including creditworthiness verification assessment, collateral and associate risk assessment, and income and employment verification. The following process is determining loan terms and making a loan application decision. Finally, the customer is notified of the loan decision (approved or rejected), and the loan disbursement decision is implemented [33]. The main objective of the loan approval process is to maintain the quality of the loan portfolio and minimize loan default, which directly impacts the bank's financial health.

2.2 Data Visualization and its Importance in the Banking Sector

In the era of big data, businesses are overwhelmed with vast amounts of information. Data visualization is pivotal in enabling businesses to extract critical insights from a large amount of data, which is essential for making critical informed decisions [34]. Data visualization is extensively used in business processes to enhance managerial knowledge

and improve organizational performance. It provides managers with intuitive and interactive tools to explore data, identify patterns, and derive actionable insights [35]. Visualizing business process data can reveal insights into process performance, enabling managers to identify and prioritize areas for improvement in business processes [2], [36]. This capability is crucial for process optimization and resource allocation, as visual tools can highlight inefficiencies and areas for improvement. Moreover, [37] highlighted the role of data visualization in identifying vulnerabilities, enhancing process efficiency, and preventing unfavorable consequences within business operations. Studies by [38], [39], [40], [41] all acknowledged data visualization as a critical tool for analyzing and understanding business processes.

The literature also underscores the significance of data visualization in corporate decision support systems. [42] emphasized its role in enhancing analytical ability across all levels of an organization, empowering decision-makers to make better decisions. [16] also discussed how data visualization makes data more accessible and understandable, aiding decision-makers in gaining insights from business processes. [43] further contributed to the discussion by highlighting that data visualization enables data exploration and analysis, allowing decision-makers to capture further insights.

Nevertheless, data visualization itself does not provide insights; instead, it assists the reader in interpreting data and extracting valuable insights. [44], [45] explained that readers' brains process the graphical image to obtain insights. Managers can effectively perceive insights using visual tools such as charts, graphs, maps, and interactive dashboards [46].

Visualization techniques aid in comprehending and evaluating data, facilitating data-driven decision-making. Consequently, using effective visualization is essential to leveraging the full potential of data visualization and gaining useful insights. Therefore, determining which visualization techniques work best for the given data type is important for effective visualization [47].

In the current scenario, banks manage an immense volume of information daily, such as customer data, operational data, financial transactions, and market data. Effectively interpreting and utilizing this data is essential to ensuring regulatory compliance, driving strategic growth, and maintaining competitiveness. By converting raw data into visually intuitive formats, such as charts, graphs, and dashboards, data visualization becomes a potent tool for addressing these requirements.

Banks need data visualization to understand large amounts of complex data produced by banks' processes for timely decision-making [48]. In addition, [49] highlighted the need for data visualization to detect suspicious behaviors and fraudulent patterns in banking transactions. The author proposed a visualization tool, VaBank, for banking transaction data analysis to detect suspicious behavior. By analyzing data generated in banks, banks have identified and prevented fraudulent activities, enabling them to make well-informed decisions [50].

In the study [51], a bank's customer data was examined using visualization techniques like bar charts, scatterplots, and histograms, which helped the bank to recognize customer behavior and preferences and identify trends and patterns that affect customer satisfaction and loyalty, leading to customer relationship management and strategic decisions. In the study [52], visualization techniques like bar charts, pie charts, and line charts were used, using the marketing data set of a bank, to identify hidden patterns and predict customers' likelihood to enroll in the bank's term deposit. Data

visualization in the banking sector aids in identifying data discrepancies, discovering risk patterns, and predicting default risk [53].

Like every business, financial institutions are also prone to risk. It has always been crucial for financial institutions to predict certain situations in the future [54]. Predicting the risk associated with granting credit to the customer is an essential aspect to consider in the loan approval process. In addition, predicting loan approval is also crucial for banks to minimize the risk of loan defaults and improve decision-making [55]. A study assessed a Thai bank's loan approval process data through process mining using fuzzy and social network graphs. It gained insights into process bottlenecks such as average time to complete loan requests, loan approval processing days, workload, and iterations, which help managers make decisions to improve efficiency in the process [30].

Visualizing data relationships can help identify emerging trends and patterns in a bank, customer behavior, transaction patterns, and fraud detection. Visualization techniques are used to explore and understand large data sets, helping banks identify patterns and trends that can inform strategic decisions to improve customer satisfaction and loyalty.

2.3 Overview of Data Visualization Techniques

There is a notable lack of focused studies on the best visualization techniques tailored to the banking sector. Particularly in areas such as loan approval and customer onboarding processes, the application of these techniques remains underexplored. However, there is a considerable amount of research on general visualization techniques and their uses [47], [56], [57], [58], [59], [60].

Line charts, pie charts, bar charts, area charts, bubble charts, scattered plots, heat maps, tree maps, histograms, cartograms, Gantt charts, etc., are some techniques to represent raw data in a visual format [15], [61]. Each technique has strengths and weaknesses; therefore, visualization techniques should be used based on their intended use. The choice of visualization techniques is dependent on several factors:

- the type of data (numerical or categorical)[52], [62], [63], [64]
- the nature of the domain of interest and visualization purpose [52] [64]
- dimensionality (number of attributes), and scalability (number of records) [62]

Data types are numerical or quantitative data, further classified as discrete and continuous data, consisting of numbers that can be ordered and measured. In contrast, categorical or qualitative data, further classified as nominal and ordinal data, consists of non-numerical values that fall into categories or groups and are presented using labels or names[58], [63], [65].

[66] provides a complete guide to the principles and practices of creating compelling visualizations. The author emphasized the importance of understanding data types, such as qualitative and quantitative, and the specific tasks that users need to perform, such as comparing values and finding patterns and trends, while selecting the right type of visualization techniques that represent accurate information and are easy to understand. The author further emphasized that depending on context and readability, one should choose the visualization techniques, and use appropriate colors to differentiate the datasets and to highlight the specific or important data points. Several types of data visualization techniques, their uses, their strength, and limitations, are defined as follows[47], [56], [57], [58], [59], [60].

Line Charts. Line charts are useful for comparing changes and presenting relationships between variables using single or multiple lines over the same period. Line charts help display continuous data and identify trends and patterns in data[66], [67]. Line graphs present time series data, where a sequence of data points is linked by a straight line representing a data point. Each data point displays the information. The line graph measures the change between points. The x-axis in the line graph represents time-series data, while the y-axis represents the scale and values of the measurement. So, it is best to visualize continuous (interval and ratio) variables. Hence, a line graph is useful for representing change, trend, pattern, behavior, and correlation in the data set over a specific time interval. Color codes can be given. However, it will become cluttered and harder to understand when too many lines are plotted in the same graph.



Figure 1: Line Graph

Area Charts. Area charts are used to display quantitative data. They are useful for showing trends over time while emphasizing total values and making comparisons. The x-axis represents categorical data or time series, and the y-axis represents continuous data. The area chart is like a line chart, but it displays datasets with the area between the line and the x-axis, which is filled using color or shading to produce an area graph representing the data's volume. The filled area makes trends more apparent and more accessible to interpret. A stacked area chart can be used when multiple categories exist. However, with large datasets, stacked area charts may create complexity in analyzing the data, as overlapped area charts can be challenging to read.



Figure 2: Area Chart



Figure 3: Stacked Area Chart

Bar Charts. A bar chart is a graph with rectangular bars commonly used to present categorical data [66]. The bar graph also helps to compare discrete data over multiple categories and effectively shows differences in values across different categories [67]. It is useful to present and compare quantitative data across qualitative variables by grouping data into categories. The x-axis in the chart presents categories being compared, and the y-axis presents measured values. The length of the bar represents the value of each category. Based on the number of categories and size of each category, bars can be presented vertically or horizontally. A vertical bar chart is useful for presenting negative values. It works better with ordinal data having limited categories,

whereas a horizontal bar chart is better for presenting more categories and longer label names and works better with nominal data.

A grouped/or clustered bar chart uses separate bars to present values within a category and compares multiple categories across different groups [66]. It is useful to present categories having two or more data sets (sub-categories). It is effective in making easy comparisons of multiple categories or sub-categories by using color code. However, too many categories and subcategories make the chart cluttered and challenging to read. Stacked bar charts show the composition of different categories within a single bar and highlight how sub-categories contribute to the total [66]. Stacked bar charts present one or more segments of individual categories and a total for each category. Different colors are used to show different segments within a category is easier, it isn't easy to quantify the remaining segments. Also, presenting many segments within a category makes it difficult to

analyze. When there are many bars to be presented, and bars are close together, different colors can be used

to show each bar. Color coding and labeling are crucial while using bar charts.



Figure 4: Grouped Bar Chart



Figure 5: Stacked Bar Chart

Pie Charts. A pie chart displays data in a circular graph. It is generally used to compare the percentage of each category to the whole rather than comparing categories to each other. The pie chart presents data in a circle divided into different sections. Each section presents different categories, and the size of each section determines the proportion of a category to the whole. It contains categorical variables (categories) and numeric variables. The pie chart is most effective when there is limited content to present and additional information, such as percentages and text, is provided to describe the data presented.

There are two variants of pie charts: doughnut charts and exploding pie charts. Doughnut charts are quite like pie charts, but hollows in the center give space for additional information. On the other hand, in exploding pie charts, one or more sections of the chart are separated from the rest, which helps emphasize important information. Thus, several pie charts are useful for comparing parts to the whole [66]. For all kinds of pie charts to be effective, limited information should be presented to avoid cluttering with clear labeling.



Figure 6: Pie Chart



Figure 7: Donut Pie Chart



Scatter Plots. Scatter plots are useful in exploring relationships between two quantitative data and identifying correlations and relationships in data [66], [67]. Here, one variable is independent (x-axis), and the other is dependent (y-axis). A dot in a scatter plot represents an observation, and the dot's position indicates the value of the observation. The scatter plot effectively visualizes relationships and correlations, patterns, and trends in variables, mostly when there are many datasets. It is also useful to identify outliers from the data set. Scatter plots are useful in presenting the relationship in data when there are many data points, but a clear interpretation is required to understand the significance of patterns. scatter plots are useful in exploring relationships between two quantitative data and identifying correlations and relationships in data



Figure 9: Scatter Plot

Bubble Plots. Bubble plots are variations of scatter plots in which a bubble represents an observation, however, they are useful for presenting three variables. The position of a bubble represents the values of the x-axis and y-axis, and the size of the bubble represents the value of the third variable. Like scatter plots, bubble plots are also effective in visualizing the relationship between any three variables and useful in comparing values, except dots are replaced by bubbles. However, too many data points may create difficulty in interpretation and difficulty in comparing bubble sizes accurately.



Figure 10: Bubble Chart

Heat Maps. Heat maps represent data in a matrix form where colors present data values. Color represents data intensity or density within a two-dimensional space that has categorical and continuous data. Heatmaps show intensity variations and represent matrix data [66]. Heatmaps are mostly useful for identifying patterns, and correlations, comparing data, detecting outliers, and highlighting high and low intensity in large quantitative datasets. However, precise values cannot be interpreted, and careful color selection is very essential.



Figure 11: Heat Map

Funnel Chart. A funnel chart displays data in the form of a funnel. It resembles the shape of a funnel, begins with a broader head, and ends with a narrow neck. It is divided into sections, the width of which represents the number of items or participants remaining at each stage. It is mainly used to visualize stages in a sequential process, such as the sales process, purchase process, and development process when the progressive reduction of data as it moves through each stage is to be presented [68], [69]. It uses categorical data to represent different stages in a process and quantitative data to represent percentages or counts. Funnel charts are useful tools for identifying areas of improvement, especially when dealing with sequential stages and conversion rates [70]. Thus, it helps identify bottlenecks or problem areas in the process. However, detailed data within each stage cannot be presented.



Figure 12: Funnel Chart

Dual Axes Chart. Also known as a combination chart, is useful to visualize two sets of quantitative data simultaneously. It shows comparisons and relationships between variables having different units in the same graph. It typically combines bars and lines to display data. It features two independent y-axes: each representing a different data series and sharing the same x-axis for both data series. It can display a large amount of information in a single graph, enabling direct comparison and visualize relationships such as correlations, trends, and patterns. However, if scales are not clearly labeled or if data ranges are significantly different, this graph may lead to misinterpretation[71], [72].



Figure 13: Dual Axes Chart

The table below summarizes an overview of several visualization techniques, along with their intended purpose, data used, strengths, and limitations.

| S.N. | Visualization Techniques | Data Used | Purpose | Strengths | Limitations |
|------|---|---|---|---|---|
| 1 | Line chart | Time series data and continuous. | To show trends/changes over time or to show relationsip between two related continuous variables. | Clearly shows trends, patterns, and changes over time. Can handle multiple data series (lines) for comparison. | Can become cluttered and difficult to read when there is too many lines or data points. |
| 2 | 2 Area chart Time series, categorical a | | To show the magnitude of change over time, emphasizing the total value or quantity represented by | - Good for showing the size/volume of the change over time, visual impact with filled areas. | - Can become difficult to interpret with too many data series, overlapping multiple areas. |
| | | continuous | the line. | - Unlike line chart, it shows trends and cumulative values over time. | - Not ideal for precise comparison between data series. |
| 3 | Stacked area chart | ked area chart Time series, categorical and To display part-to-whole relationships and show how continuous individual parts contribute to the whole over time | | - Displays cumulative contribution of each category over time. | - Difficult to compare changes in individual segments if they are small or the data series are not distinct. |
| | | | | ume. | to interpret the area values. |
| | | Categorical and | | - Effective for comparing categorical data. | - Not suitable for presenting trends over time. |
| 4 | Bar chart | continuous. | To compare values across different categories. | - Simple and easy to interpret. | Not ideal for displaying too many categories, can become cluttered with too many bars. |
| 5 | Grouped bar chart | Categorical and | To compare multiple sub-categories within categories, | Facilitates direct comparison of multiple categories and sub- categories. | - Can become cluttered and hard to read with too many groups. |
| | | continuous. | showing distribution of groups. | - Displays differences within and between groups. | - Requires proper labeling and distinct color to differentiate. |
| 6 | Stacked har chart | Categorical and | To show the composition of categories and compare | Visualizes composition within a category, showing how different components contribute to the total. | Harder to compare sizes of individual components across different categories. |
| | | continuous. | both total and sub-component contributions. | - Ideal for comparing individual components and overall total. | Can be cluttered and visually confusing if there are many components. |
| 7 | Pie chart | Categorical data as percentages or proportions. | To show parts of a whole as percentages or proportions. | - Simple and effective for showing data as percentages. | Not effective for presenting large datasets, difficult to compare sizes and get precise values of categories. |
| | | | | - Useful for small datasets with a limited number of categories. | - Proper labelling is essential to differentiate categories. |
| 8 | Donut pie chart | Categorical data as proportions. | ta as Similar to a pie chart, but with a blank center, to emphasize labels or other additional information. | - Allows more space for better data labelling or display additional information in the center. | - Similar limitations to pie chart, with additional difficulty of labeling the center. |
| | ļ | | | - Modern aesthetic and visually appealing. | - The central additional information can distract from main data. |
| 9 | Exploded pie chart | Categorical data as proportions. | To emphasize individual slices of a a pie chart, specially specific category. | - Draws attention to important categories, highlighting significant data. | Can be misleading if the separation is not based on a significant difference. |
| | | | | | - Less effective for presenting exact proportions. |
| 10 | Scatter plot | Continuous (numeric) data for both axes. | To show relationships between two continuous variables. | - Effective for identifying correlations, outliers, and clusters. | Can become cluttered with too many data points; requires careful axis scaling. |
| | | | | - Displays large number of data points. | - Clear interpretation is required to understand the significance of patterns. |
| 11 | Bubble plot | Continuous data and categorical (additional | To show three dimensions of data. | Effective for displaying relationship between three variables simultaneously. | Size perception can be misleading; difficult to compare bubble sizes accurately. |
| | | variable for bubble size) | variable for bubble size) | | - Highlight trends and outliers with additional dimension. |
| 12 | Heat man | Continuous or categorical data, represented with a color gradient. | Continuous or categorical data more can ted with a | - Excellent for visualizing patterns, intensity, and density. | Color perception can be subjective; precise values are harder to identify. |
| | ricat map | | relationships using color. | - Provides quick overview of the data distribution. | Careful selection of color scales is required to avoid misleading interpretations. |
| | Funnel chart | Sequential categorical data, continuous and numeric | ata. To show stages in a process and the drop-off rate between stages. | - Visualizes the reduction of data across stages, making easy to see bottlenecks or drop-offs. | - Not suitable for showing detailed data within each stage. |
| 13 | | | | - Helps identify stages where improvements are needed. | - Limited to processes with a clear progression. |
| | | | | - Combines two different charts to visualize relationship between data | |
| 14 | Dual Axes Chart | Quantative/numerical data | To visualize comparison and relationship between two different data. | simultaneously. | - May create confusion is scales are not labelled properly. |
| 1 | 1 | 1 | | Displays large amount of information in single graph. | 1 |

Table 1: Overview of Data Visualization Techniques

While there is extensive research on general data visualization techniques, a notable gap remains in understanding which specific visualization techniques can be used to achieve insights in the banking sector, particularly in loan approval and customer onboarding processes. Current literature highlights the general uses of data visualizations and how they benefit businesses. However, it lacks a detailed exploration of the exact insights managers seek and which visualization techniques are most effective for these needs, especially within banking. This gap leads to uncertainty about which visualization techniques are best suited to achieve specific banking insights, potentially resulting in less effective decision-making and operational strategies. This thesis addresses this gap by interviewing bank managers to

identify the particular insights they seek and evaluate various data visualization techniques gathered from literature against the goal of achieving those insights.

3 Method

3.1 Research Design

The primary objective of this study is to understand the specific insights managers are looking for from two specific banking processes: the customer onboarding process and the loan approval process and to understand the data visualization techniques they use to get these insights. The study aims to evaluate the suitability of the used visualization techniques and provide guidance on which techniques to use to extract specific insights. The research questions guiding this study are (1) What insights do managers seek from banking processes? (2) Which visualization techniques are currently used to extract these insights from the data? (3) How to most effectively visualize process data to achieve specific process insights?

To this end, the study utilizes a qualitative research approach to explore how to present data to extract specific insights into the business processes of a bank. Firstly, an explorative literature review was conducted to compile an overview of visualization techniques and their intended use. Next, qualitative interviews were carried out to obtain the insights managers seek from the banking processes. Lastly, the insights extracted from the interview were compared to the overview of visualization techniques resulting from the literature review to evaluate the suitability of the used visualization techniques and provide guidance on which techniques to use to extract specific insights.

3.2 Participant Selection

Participants for this study were chosen using purposive sampling, also called non-probabilistic sampling, [73] to ensure relevant participants were included. The selection of these participants was deliberate, taking into consideration the study's purpose and their relevance to the research objective. The participants selected were managers from banks directly involved in these processes under investigation. A total of five managers participated in the study. This methodology is employed to gain an understanding of specific phenomena, as opposed to extrapolating findings to the entire population.

3.3 Data Collection

As a first step, a literature review identified two banking processes and an overview of various data visualization techniques. Various sources of literature, such as Google Scholar, Springer, Taylor & Francis, and Research Gate, were used.

Data was collected from participants using semi-structured interviews, an approach that incorporates open-ended questions [74]. To get an understanding of the insights, managers seek from these processes, interviews were conducted with the five selected managers. At the beginning of the interview, two banking processes under study were explained

(as explained in the literature) to the participants and confirmed they were directly involved in these processes. Further, participants were informed that an interview would be recorded and subsequently obtained their consent for this. Each interview lasted between 15 to 20 minutes, with an average length of approximately 10 minutes, and was conducted using a virtual meeting platform.

3.4 Data Analysis

In this study, data analysis aimed to compile an overview of the type of insights managers seek from two banking processes—loan approval and customer onboarding—and the data visualization techniques they use to get those insights.

For the qualitative data collected from interviews, data were analyzed using narrative analysis [75]. Specific sentences from the interview were selected that provided answers to the research questions. The selected sentences were coded, in which relevant portions of the text were labeled that provided key information shared by participants. In vivo coding form of coding was used in which participants' own words are emphasized and used as code [76].

3.5 Evaluation of Insights and Visualization Techniques

In the end, this study evaluated the insights managers seek against various data visualization techniques to propose a best-suited method. This involved identifying which data visualization techniques can be used to obtain insights. Firstly, an overview of several visualization techniques was obtained from the literature review. Then, based on the data type and purpose of visualization, the utility of different visualization techniques obtained from the literature review results was evaluated and compared to obtain specific techniques for specific insights.

4 Findings

This section outlines the key findings derived from the interviews with managers of commercial banks regarding insights they seek from two specific banking processes and the data visualization techniques they utilize to extract these insights. Data are organized based on the research questions and the answers to these questions are essential in understanding and evaluating visualization techniques to achieve specific insights.

Loan Approval Process Insight. Key insights sought by bank managers include:

Loan application processing time (turnaround time). It involves tracking and comparing the time taken to process a loan application from start to end (until approval) to evaluate the efficiency of the loan approval process and identify bottlenecks. This insight helps improve loan approval process speed, enhance customer satisfaction, and optimize operational efficiency.

Loan application volume and approval rate. It involves monitoring the loan applications received and the percentage of applications that get approved. This insight provides knowledge on overall loan demand and the effectiveness of loan approval criteria and helps in planning and resource allocation.

Cost per loan application processed. This involves calculating and tracking the cost incurred for processing each loan application to evaluate cost-effectiveness. This insight helps identify areas of cost reduction in the loan approval process, thereby improving profitability.

Demand for loans. This involves analyzing the loan application trends to understand the demand trend and pattern and predict future demand. This insight helps predict market needs, manage resources efficiently, and tailor loan products to meet customer demands.

Loan portfolio composition and performance. This involves assessing the diversification of loan portfolios (spreading the loan across different sectors to reduce the risk associated with a single sector) and their performance to maintain a balanced portfolio and identify risk factors. This insight helps maintain a bank's balanced portfolio, identify risk factors, and ensure the stability and profitability of the bank's loan operations.

These insights are crucial for bank managers in optimizing and ensuring the efficiency of the loan approval process, identifying bottlenecks, allocating resources effectively, detecting fraud, evaluating cost-effectiveness, understanding and predicting market demand patterns, and managing risk by reducing or adjusting potential risk.

Data Visualization Techniques Used. In response to questions concerning how managers get that information, it is found that managers employ a range of visual aids, including bar charts, tables, line charts, and pie charts, to extract and comprehend these crucial insights. These visual aids facilitate the interpretation of data, allowing loan approval managers to make well-informed decisions.

The table below shows the summary of the findings.

| Interviewee s | Interviewees Quotes Loan approval process insights | Coding | Interviewees Quotes Visualization techniques used | Coding | Labelling Details | Limitations |
|------------------|---|--|---|-------------|--|---|
| Pl | "As a manager, I need to make sure everything is happening smoothly and efficiently, mostly how timely all the loan applications are handled and how long it takes to process application from start to finish are important" | Processing time from start to end - Turnaround Time (TAT) | "Monthly report is submitted to me data is presented in bar charts to compare the time taken by each type of loan application" | Bar charts | X-axis - Types of loan application Y-axis - Processing time | Restricts the ability to compare multiple sub- categories within a category, as only single data series can be presented. |
| P2 | "Understanding the volume and type of loan applications received and their approval/rejection rate helps me plan accordingly, I mean I can use this information to allocate resources properlyto identify trends" | Loan applications received by type and applications approved - Loan Application Volume and Approval Rate | "Normally I don't work on visualization, I get a report on loan performance where I get this information summarized in a table" | Table | Table includes list of loan application volume by loan type and their approval rate | Reading and interpreting large tables with many rows and columns can be overwhelming, making it harder to quickly understand trends, patterns and relationships in data. |
| P3 | "For me cost factor for each loan applied is essentialas a profit oriented business how to reduce cost, where to reduce cost and increase profit is prime concern, so cost incurred by both approved and rejected loans is my concern" | Cost associated with each loan processed (approved/or rejected) - Cost per Loan | "I get this information in a monthly report usually data are presented in bar charts" | Bar charts | X-axis - Approved and rejected loan Y-axis - Cost per approved and rejected loan | Restricts the ability to compare multiple sub- categories within a category, as single data series can be presented. |
| P4 | "Today's business environment is very volatile, in these recent years there are changes in regulations, and interest rates which have affected the demand for loans time to time" | Predict demand for loan over time - Loan Trend | "Line graph is helpful to see the trend of loan" | Line charts | X-axis - Time period Y-axis - Loan demand (in amount) | Too many lines on same chart makes difficult to read and understand. |
| P5 | "I need to make sure the composition of lending portfolio is diverse and reduce default rate because this helps to diversify risk that can be caused by loan default" | Diverse lending composition - Loan Portfolio and Performance | "My team gives me a loan portfolio reportfor comparison data is presented in pie charts" | Pie charts | Pie chart shows proportion of each loan type within total loan portfolio | Not effective for large datasets with many categories. |

Table 2: Loan Approval Process Insights

Customer Onboarding Process Insights. For the customer onboarding process, managers aim to gain insights that help optimize the process, reduce the time and resources required, identify bottlenecks, enhance customer experience and satisfaction, and improve customer retention. Key insights include:

Customer onboarding time. Monitoring average onboarding time helps managers pinpoint areas for improvement and streamline processes to reduce onboarding duration. This insight helps new customers use the bank's services quickly and efficiently and facilitates a smooth onboarding experience, enhancing customer satisfaction.

Preferred channels to onboard. Knowing channels, physical, online, and mobile apps customers prefer for onboarding helps managers allocate resources effectively and ensure that most preferred channels are well-optimized and catered to enhance user experience. This insight helps improve customer experience, leading to higher satisfaction and retention rates.

Drop-off point and drop-off rate. Identifying where customers drop off at a high rate provides insights into the pain points or stages where customers face difficulties. For example, during the online bank account opening process, a high drop-off rate at the "identity verification" stage might be due to a cumbersome and time-consuming document upload process. Such insight helps managers implement additional support at those points to retain customers and address issues that cause drop-offs.

Customer satisfaction level. Collecting feedback from customers on the onboarding experience provides an understanding of the satisfaction level and the need for improvement. This insight helps identify areas of dissatisfaction and make improvements to enable customer satisfaction.

Types and frequency of errors encountered. Identifying common errors during the customer onboarding process faced by customers and bank staff allows managers to implement necessary steps to mitigate the root causes of issues. This insight helps minimize errors and reduce delays, leading to an efficient onboarding process that benefits customers and banks.

These insights are crucial for bank managers to enhance the customer onboarding process. By closely monitoring these key metrics, managers can streamline operations, improve customer satisfaction, and ensure efficient and pleasant onboarding experiences.

Data Visualization Techniques Used. In response to questions concerning how managers get that information, it is found that managers employ a range of visual aids, including bar charts, pie charts, tables, and lists of information, to extract and comprehend these crucial insights.

The table below shows the summary of the findings from the interviews.

| Interviewees | Interviewees Quotes Customer onboarding process insights | Coding | Interviewees Quotes Visualization techniques used | Coding | Labelling Details | Limitations |
|--------------|--|---|--|------------|--|--|
| Pl | "Nowadays customer wants quick service, or they go to other banksminimizing time taken to onboard customer while ensuring accurate regulatory checks is important to reduce risk and provide better experience" | Total time taken to onboard customer - Customer Onboarding Time | "Mostly, I get this information presented in bar charts" | Bar charts | X-axis - Customer types Y-axis - Onboarding time | Restricts the ability to compare multiple sub-categories within a category, as single data series can be presented. |
| P2 | "Customer preferences of channel to onboard like in-person/or online so that we can optimize resource allocation and give better onboarding experiences" | Identify channels preferred by customers - Preferred Channels | "Customer service report contains information in pie charts about channel used by customers to onboard" | Pie charts | Pie chart shows proportion (percentage) of customers who prefer onboarding channels (in-person, online, mobile app). | Not effective for large datasets with many categories. |
| P3 | "Since we have implemented customer onboarding through digital platform, we have observed a higher drop-off rateso we started tracking drop-off points and drop-off rates to understand pain-points of customers" | Identify major drop-off points by customer - Drop-off Point/Rate | "In a monthly report all these information is presented in a table" | Table | In a table data are presented in columns. Each column contains stages of onboarding process, number of customers started, number of customers completed and corresponding drop-off rate respectively. | Reading and interpreting large tables with many rows and columns can be overwhelming, making it harder to quickly understand trends, patterns and relationships in data. |
| P4 | "We normally collect feedback from customers to know their experiences during the onboarding process and after the process to analyse satisfaction level and make improvements" | Customer experience in whole process - Customer Satisfaction Level | "Normally, I get this information in bar chart" | Bar chart | X-axis - Customer satisfaction level (very satisfied…very dissatisfied) Y-axis - Number of customers | Restricts the ability to compare multiple sub-categories within a category, as single data series can be presented. |
| P5 | "Our team encounter various errors which causes rework and slows the process. As a manager, to minimize errors and save time. I try to understand measons for delay in several stage of process and the frequency of occurence" | Type and frequency of errors encountered in several stages - Type and Frequency of Errors | "I see list of errors and its frequency in a monthly report" | List/table | In table data are presented in columns. One column contains list of types of errors and another column contains frequency of occurrence of errors. | Reading and interpreting large tables with many rows and columns can be overwhelming, making it harder to quickly understand trends, patterns and relationships in data. |

5 Evaluation

In this section, various data visualization techniques suitable for gaining insights managers seek from the loan approval and customer onboarding processes are evaluated. The findings indicate that each manager seeks different insights from the process they are managing and uses general visualization techniques to get these insights.

Choosing the right data visualization techniques is essential to conveying insights effectively. As mentioned earlier, visualization techniques should be chosen based on the data type and purpose of visualization. Therefore, data that provide insights are first classified to evaluate the visualization techniques against the goal of achieving specific insights.

Below are various recommended visualization techniques for each insight. The analysis includes identifying the data types needed and selecting the appropriate visualization technique to communicate the insights effectively. Several visualization techniques are evaluated, each serving a different purpose but using the same data. At the end of the analysis, the most appropriate visualization technique is recommended for each insight based on the specific needs of the managers.

i. Loan Approval Process

1. Turnaround Time

Purpose: Present and compare the time taken to process the loan applications from submission to approval.

Data type: Quantitative/Continuous (time), time-series, and categorical (loan types)

Number of attributes: 3 (turnaround time in hours or days; months/quarters/years; loan types (personal/business))

Recommended visualization techniques:

a. Grouped bar chart: Useful for comparing turnaround time for each loan type at a given period. The x-axis represents categories (different loan types) using a group of bars. Within each group in the x-axis, bars are

divided based on periods to show comparisons across various periods. The y-axis represents the turnaround time taken in hours/or days for processing the corresponding loan type. Different loan turnaround times can be compared over different periods or segments.

b. Line chart: Useful for presenting turnaround time changes/or trends over time for each loan type, allowing for easy comparison of turnaround times across different periods. The x-axis represents time data in weeks/months. The y-axis represents turnaround time, which is measured in days or hours. Each line on the chart represents a different loan type, connecting the data points for each month. A color code is given to each line to differentiate loan type.

Most Appropriate Visualization Technique. A grouped bar chart is most effective in presenting and comparing multiple categories across different secondary dimensions side by side. A grouped bar chart helps to compare each loan application's processing times (turnaround time) based on loan types and over different periods by presenting data with values. Figure 14 compares the turnaround time taken to process the loan application.



Figure 14: Turnaround Time Taken

2. Loan Application Volume and Approval Rate

Purpose: Compare and identify trends in the volume of loan applications and their approval rate over time.

Data Type: Quantitative/Numerical (count/number), categorical (loan types), time series, and continuous (percentage of approved applications)

Number of Attributes: 4 (application volume; loan types (personal/business); months/quarters/years, and approval rate)

Recommended Visualization Techniques:

a. Line chart: Useful for tracking changes in loan application volume and approval rate over time. It helps understand the direction and pace of changes, highlighting trends and seasonal patterns. The x-axis

represents the timeline in months/quarters while displaying trends in data. The y-axis represents the volume of loan applications received and applications approved in each period. Separate lines are plotted for each loan type to indicate the trend in approved applications, allowing direct comparisons across loan types. To distinguish data, lines are color-coded.

- b. Grouped bar chart: Useful to compare and track total loan application volume by loan types and their approval rate in a single chart for easy comparison. The x-axis represents the loan types. The y-axis represents the total loan application volume and the number of approved applications. Each loan type will have two bars grouped; one shows the volume of applications, and another shows the approved applications of the corresponding loan type. The rate can be derived from comparing the volume and the number of approved applications. Bars are color-coded to distinguish volume and approval rate.
- c. Dual-axis bar chart: Useful for comparing two different datasets together. It combines bars and lines to show the volume of applications and their approval rate on the same chart. A loan application volume and approval rate in a single graph helps to compare values and identify trends. The x-axis represents time. The y-axis (left) represents the total volume of applications, and the y-axis (right) represents the approval rate. The bar and its height represent the total loan application volume, and the line chart above the bars represents the approval rate (%) of corresponding loan types.

Most Appropriate Visualization Technique. A dual-axis bar chart, or a combination chart, is one of the best options for presenting loan application volume using bars and approval rate using a line together. Combining a line chart (for approval rates) with bars (for application volumes) can effectively highlight loan demand and trends over time and make it easier to see how changes in the volume of applications might correlate with changes in the approval rate. Figure 15 shows the trend of loan application volume and their approval rate.



Figure 15: Loan Application Volume and Approval Rate

3. Cost per Loan

Purpose: Compare the total cost incurred to process loan applications (by types) and status (approved or rejected).

Data Type: Quantitative/Numerical (cost); categorical (loan types); categorical (application status)

Number of Attributes: 3 (cost; loan types; approved/or rejected)

Recommended Visualization Techniques:

- a. Stacked bar chart: Useful to compare total costs across loan types and application status. A stacked bar chart can show the total cost incurred to process the loan and its breakdown by status (approved vs. rejected) within each loan type. The x-axis represents loan types, and the y-axis represents the total cost. Each bar represents the loan types divided into segments representing costs associated with approved and rejected applications. Different colors can be used to differentiate approved and rejected segments.
- b. Grouped bar chart: Useful to compare cost by application status (approved or rejected) side by side for each loan type. The x-axis represents loan types with grouped bars for each approved and rejected status. The y-axis represents the total cost incurred in processing the loan application by status. Different colors can be used to distinguish loan status bars.

Most Appropriate Visualization Technique. A stacked bar chart is the most appropriate visualization technique for comparing overall composition. A stacked bar chart can display the total cost of each loan type and the breakdown of approved and rejected loans. The segments within the bar represent the approved and rejected loan applications, while the height of each bar represents the total cost for a specific loan type. Proper labeling and appropriate color should be used to differentiate approved and rejected segments within a bar. Figure 16 shows the cost incurred for processing loan applications by loan types and status.



Figure 16: Cost per Loan Processed

4. Loan Trend

Purpose: Identify the demand trend for different loans (in amount) over time.

Data Type: Continuous (amounts), categories (loan types), and time series

Number of Attributes: 3 (loan amounts; loan types; months/quarters/years)

Recommended Visualization Techniques:

- a. Line chart: Useful for tracking changes in demand for loan volume (in amount). The x-axis represents the period. The y-axis represents the loan amount. Each line in a graph represents different loan types, showing the trend of loan amounts over time. The lines representing loan types are color-coded and help to find if the demand for loans (in terms of amount) for each type is increasing, decreasing, or constant. It helps in understanding the direction and pace of changes in loan demand, highlighting trends and seasonal patterns.
- b. Stacked bar chart: Useful for showing the total loan amount and the contribution of each loan type to the total. The x-axis represents the time period. The y-axis represents cumulative loan demand (in amount). Each bar represents total loan demand at a certain time and is divided into segments representing loan types. The area of the segment shows the amount of loan type. This chart is helpful for seeing how total loan demand changes over time and which loan types contribute most to the total.
- c. Area chart: Useful for identifying and comparing trends in the demand (in amount) for different loans over time. The x-axis represents time, and the y-axis represents the loan amount. Area charts display multiple data series (different loan types) stacked on each other. The uppermost line shows the total value of all loan types. At the same time, the stacked individual areas distinguished by colors represent the contribution of different loan types to the total loan value. This helps to visualize and compare trends in demand for every loan that has changed along with the total loan demand.

Most Appropriate Visualization Techniques. The line chart having multiple lines is most effective in representing the demand for loans over time, where the lines' color or shape distinguishes the loan type. Each loan type can be visualized and analyzed separately. An area chart is appropriate when the focus is to visualize both the trend of loan demand and the relative proportion of each loan type over time, as it has the strengths of both a line chart and stacked chart and provides a clear view of demand trend along with the total volume. Figure 17 shows the trend of demand for loan over time.



Figure 17: Loan Demand Trend

5. Loan Portfolio and Performance

Purpose: Show the loan portfolio composition and performance of the loan portfolio.

Data Type: Categorical (loan types), continuous (portfolio size and performance metrics)

Number of Attributes: 3 (loan types, portfolio size, default rate/return on investment)

Recommended Visualization Techniques:

- a. Bubble chart: Useful for visualizing the composition and performance of a loan portfolio. Each bubble represents a different type of loan. Each bubble size represents portfolio size (value of loan types). A larger bubble indicates a higher share, while a smaller one indicates a lower share. The bubble's position in the x and y axes represents two additional loan performance metrics: default rate and return on investment. The color can indicate the risk level associated with each loan type, from green (low risk) to red (high risk).
- b. Pie chart and line chart: A pie chart is useful for presenting the composition of a loan portfolio and a line chart shows the performance (default rate) of each loan portfolio over time. Thus, two different charts can be used separately to visualize the data.

Most Appropriate Visualization Technique. A bubble chart is very effective in presenting multiple dimensions of data simultaneously. It is suitable to highlight the size of each loan portfolio (loan type) and compare them in terms of size

and performance metrics. It is also appropriate to explore the relationship between performance metrics. Figure 18 shows the composition of loan portfolio and its default rate.



Figure 18: Loan Portfolio Performance and Default Rate

ii. Customer Onboarding Process

1. Time to Onboard

Purpose: Present and compare the average time taken to onboard customers.

Data type: Quantitative/Continuous (time), categorical (customer types), and time series

Number of attributes: 3 (onboarding time in hours or days; individual/ business customers; months/quarters/years)

Recommended visualization techniques:

a. Grouped bar chart: Useful for comparing the time taken to onboard customers across different categories, such as customer type in different periods. The x-axis represents the customer types that are being compared over a period. The y-axis represents the onboarding time for each customer type. Bars are grouped by period, and bars represent customer type within each group. Proper labeling or color coding of bars is required to differentiate customer types and to show what is being compared.

b. Line chart: Useful for presenting changes in onboarding time over time for each customer type, allowing for easy comparison of customer onboarding time across different periods. The x-axis represents time data in weeks/months. The y-axis represents the time taken to onboard customers measured in days or hours. Each line on the chart represents a different customer type, connecting the data points for each month. A color code is given to each line to differentiate customer type.

Most Appropriate Visualization Technique. A grouped bar chart is most effective in simultaneously presenting and comparing multiple categories across different secondary dimensions. It helps to present and compare the time taken to onboard customers based on customer types and over different periods by presenting data with discrete values. Figure 19 compares the average time taken to onboard customers.



Figure 19: Customer Onboarding Time

2. Preferred Channels to Onboard

Purpose: Compare the most preferred channels by customers to onboard.

Data Type: Categorical (channel types), and numerical (number of customers)

Number of Attributes: 2 (channels- in-person, online, mobile app; number of customers by customer type)

Possible breakdowns by other factors (e.g., customer type, customer demographics) can also be done.

Recommended visualization techniques:

a. Grouped bar chart: Useful for easy comparison of customer preference across different channels, and segmented by customer type. In the graph, the x-axis represents the preferred channels. The y-axis represents

the number of customers or the percentage of customers. Bars are grouped by channel, each containing bars for customer types. A different color is used to represent each customer type.

- b. Pie chart: Useful for showing the relative proportions of customers for each preferred channel. A single pie chart may become hard to read, so multiple (separate) pie charts can be created. For example, create one pie chart to present the composition of preferred channels by a single customer type. It is effective for comparison when there are fewer channels to present, and the goal is to show proportionate distribution.
- c. Stacked bar chart: Useful to show the composition of customers preferring each channel. The x-axis represents different preferred channels, and the y-axis represents the number of customers. Each bar representing a channel is divided into segments of varying customer types. The height of each segment shows the contribution of that customer type to the total number of customers for that channel. This makes it easy to compare the total number of customers across different channels while showing the composition of customer types.

Most Appropriate Visualization Technique. A stacked bar chart is most effective for emphasizing the total number of customers per channel. It helps compare the number of customers across different channels for each customer type, helping to identify preferences and effectively showcase how different customer types prefer different channels. It also provides valuable insights for marketing, customer service, and product development decision-making. Figure 20 shows preferred channel by customers (types) to onboard.



Figure 20: Preferred Channels to Onboard

3. Drop-off Point and Rate

Purpose: Identify stages with the highest drop-offs and compare rates of drop-offs.

Data Type: Categorical (drop-off point), quantitative (number), and continuous (rate)

Number of Attributes: 3 (drop-off stage; number of customers, drop-off rate)

Recommended visualization techniques:

- a. Dual-axis bar chart: Useful for visualizing drop-offs, especially when comparing the number of customers at each stage of the onboarding process and tracking dropping-off rates. The x-axis represents different stages of the process. The bars in the y-axis (left) represent the number of participants at each stage, and the line graph in the y-axis (right) illustrates the drop-off rate (%) at each stage. This allows simultaneous comparison of numbers and drop-off rates.
- b. Funnel chart: Useful for presenting stages in a process and the drop-off rate at each stage. It resembles the shape of a funnel and is divided into several customer onboarding stages. The width of each stage represents the number of customers that reach that stage. The wider stage means more customers, and vice versa. Each stage is labeled with its name (left side) and includes the number of customers, and an additional label (right side) may indicate the drop-off rate between stages, showing the number of customers who did not proceed to the next stage. Color can also be used to differentiate the stages or highlight significant drop-offs.

Most Appropriate Visualization Technique. A funnel chart is best to visualize different stages in the onboarding process where sequential reduction occurs and show at what stage significant drop-offs occur. Unlike the dual-axis bar chart, it provides a visual breakdown of each stage, the number of participants at each stage, and the drop-off percentage. These are crucial to identify stages where the company loses potential customers and allow it to take action to reduce drop-offs and improve conversion rates. The decreasing number of customers at each subsequent stage helps to find at which stage most customers drop off and presents a drop-off rate. Figure 21 presents the drop-off stages and the rate.



Figure 21: Customer Drop-off Point and Rate

4. Customer Satisfaction Level

Purpose: Measure customers' satisfaction levels in each stage.

Data Type: Categorical (ordinal - satisfaction scale); categorical (onboarding stages) and numerical (number)

Number of Attributes: 3 (satisfaction level (very satisfied to very dissatisfied), onboarding stages, and count of respondents)

Recommended visualization techniques:

- a. Grouped bar chart: Useful for comparing satisfaction levels of customers across different stages of the onboarding process. The x-axis represents each stage of the onboarding process. The y-axis represents the number of customers satisfied/dissatisfied. Bars in the x-axis are grouped by stages of the onboarding process, with each group containing bars for different satisfaction levels, and the length of the bar represents the number of respondents. A distinct color can be used for each bar to represent satisfaction levels.
- b. Heat map: Useful for presenting multidimensional data, such as displaying customer satisfaction levels across various onboarding stages and customer segments. Each row represents a stage of the onboarding process. Each column represents a level of very satisfied, satisfied, neutral, dissatisfied, and very dissatisfied. Each cell at the interaction of row and column presents the number of respondents at a specific stage of the process who fall into the particular satisfaction level. Heat map uses a gradient color scale to represent the frequency of responses; dark color means a high number and light color means a low number of responses.

Most Appropriate Visualization Technique. A grouped bar chart is best for measuring the satisfaction level of customers across various onboarding stages. Unlike a heatmap, a grouped bar chart provides a precise comparison of the number of respondents across different stages as each bar can be labeled with specific values. Figure 22 shows the customer satisfaction level at each stage of onboarding process.



Figure 22: Customer Satisfaction Level

5. Type and Frequency of Errors

Purpose: Identify and compare types of errors encountered across different stages in the onboarding process and their frequency of occurrence.

Data Type: Categorical (stages), categorical (error types), and numeric (frequency)

Number of Attributes: 3 (stages, error types, error frequency)

Recommended visualization techniques:

- a. Grouped bar chart: Useful for presenting and comparing different types of errors and their frequency of occurrence across various stages. The x-axis represents the stage of the customer onboarding process. The y-axis represents the frequency of errors. Bars in the x-axis are grouped by stage; within each group, bars represent different error types corresponding to the stage. Each bar's height indicates the occurrence frequency of error type at a particular stage. Distinct color combinations can be used to differentiate error types.
- b. Stacked bar chart: Useful for showing the composition of the types of errors at each stage in a process, and showing how the total number of errors varies at each stage. The x-axis represents stages in the onboarding process. The y-axis represents the frequency of error. Each bar is divided into segments representing different error types. The height of each segment represents the frequency of that error type.
- c. Heat map: Useful to show a quick visual overview of the stages with the highest error rates. The row represents stages, and the column represents error types. Each cell in the heatmap is color-coded based on the frequency of the corresponding error type at that stage, with darker colors representing higher frequencies and lighter colors representing lower frequencies. It highlights stages with common error types and high error rates.

Most Appropriate Visualization Technique. A grouped bar chart is effective for comparing the frequency of different types of error across the stages of the onboarding process, identifying which types are most common at which stages. Unlike stacked bar charts, grouped bar charts allow for direct side-by-side comparison of errors and their frequency. However, the heat map is the best option for a quick visual overview if the error type is large. Figure 23 shows the types and frequency of errors.



Figure 23: Types and Frequency of Errors

The result of the evaluation is summarized in the table below.

| Insights | Purpose | Data Type | Techniques Used by Managers | Recommended Techniques | Most Appropriate (Based on Data Type and Purpose) | Why | | |
|---|--|--|-----------------------------------|---|---|--|--|--|
| Loan Approval Process | | | | | | | | |
| Turnaround Time | Compare time taken to process the loan applications from submission to approval | Continuous (time in hours or days) Categorical (loan types) Time series (months/quarters/years) | Bar chart | 1. Grouped bar chart 2. Line chart | Grouped bar chart | Grouping bars facilitates easy side by side comparison of turnaround time among different loan types over a period (weekly/monthly). | | |
| Loan Application Volume & Approval Rate | Compare and identify trends on volume of applications by type and approval rate | 1. Numerical (application volume) 2. Categorical (loan types) 3. Continuous (percentage of approval rate) 4. Time series (months/quarters/years) | Table | 1. Line chart 2. Grouped bar chart 3. Dual-axis chart | Dual-axis chart | Dual-axis chart with bars (loan volume by type) and line chart (approval rate) is useful here. Bars provide visual clarity and makes comparison easier among different loan types, and line chart allows to identify approval rate change (trend) over time. | | |
| Cost per Loan | Compare the total cost incurred to process loan applications (by type) along with status (approved or rejected). | 1. Numerical (cost) 2. Categorical (loan types) 3. Categorical (application status) | Bar chart | 1. Stacked bar chart 2. Grouped bar chart | Stacked bar chart | Stacked bar allows easy comparison of total costs along with the breakdown of costs for approved and rejected applications within each loan type. | | |
| Loan Trend | Identify the trend of demand for different loans (in amount) over time. | 1. Continuous (amounts) 2. Categorical (loan types) 3. Time series (months/quarters/years) | Line chart | 1. Line chart 2. Stacked bar chart 3. Area chart | Line chart | Line chart is simple and easy to interpret how demand for loan has changed over time and forecast future trends. Multiple lines allow for easy comparison of loan demand trends accross different loan types, composition of loan portfolio over time. However, use of color coding or line styles is essential. | | |
| Loan Portfolio & Performance | Present composition of loan portfolio and their performance | 1. Categorical (loan types) 2. Continuous (portfolio size) 3. Continuous (default rate/ return on investment) | Pie chart | 1. Bubble chart 2. Pie chart and line chart | Bubble chart | Bubble chart provide most comprehensive view of the total loan portfolio composition, default rates (performance), and loan types at a single glance. The size of each bubble give information about share of each portfolio, position of bubble represents default rate of corresponding loan portfolio and the color of bubble represent risk level associated with each loan type. | | |
| Customer Onbooardin | g Process | • | | • | • | • | | |
| Time to Onboard | Compare the average time taken to onboard customers. | 1. Continuous (time in hours or days) 2. Categorical (customer types) 3. Time series (months/quarters/years) | Bar chart | 1. Grouped bar chart 2. Line chart | Grouped bar chart | Grouping bars facilitates easy comparison of average onboarding time based on customer types over a period (weekly/monthly) simultaneously. | | |
| Preferred Channels to Onboard | Compare the most preferred channels to onboard based on proportion. | 1. Categorical (channel types) 2. Numerical (number of customers) | Pie chart | 1. Bar chart 2. Pie chart 3. Stacked bar chart | Stacked bar chart | Stacked bar chart is effective in showing the composition of customers prefering each channel, along with total customer. It helps to identify preferences and effectively presents how different customer types prefer different channels. | | |
| Drop-off Point and Rate | Identify stages with highest drop-offs and compare rates of drop off. | 1. Categorical (drop-off point) 2. Continuous (drop-off rate) 3. Numeric (number of customers) | Table | 1. Dual-axis chart 2. Funnel chart | Funnel chart | Funnel chart provides a complete view of stages in a onboarding process and highlights where drop-off occurs. It clearly shows the point at which customer drop-off and rate of drop-off between stages. | | |
| Customer Satisfaction Level | Measure customers' satisfaction levels in each stage. | 1. Categorical (ordinal- satisfaction level) 2. Categorical (onboarding stages) 3. Numerical (number of respondents) | Bar chart | 1. Grouped bar chart 2. Heat map | Grouped bar chart | A grouped bar chart facilitates precise comparison of satisfaction levels across different onboarding stages. | | |
| Types and Frequency of Errors | Identify and compare types of errors encountered across different stages and their frequency of occurrence. | 1. Categorical (stages) 2. Categorical (error types) 3. Numeric (frequency) | List/table | 1. Grouped bar chart 2. Stacked bar chart 3. Heat map | Grouped bar chart (if fewer error types) Heat map (if large number of error types) | Grouped bar chart allows for comparison of errors in detail maintaining readibility. Multiple errors types are grouped for each stage, and the length of bar represents the frequency of occurence. Using color code helps to differentiate error types. Heat map provides quick overview of the stages with the highest error rates. It is best to use when there is large error type. | | |

Table 4: Summary - Evaluating Data Visualization Techniques Against Insights

Based on the interview results, managers rely on simple visualization techniques like bar charts, tables, line charts, and pie charts to present data, which have limitations in conveying information. These recommended techniques, such as grouped bar charts, dual-axis charts, stacked bar charts, line charts, bubble charts, heatmaps, and funnel charts, provide more detail and a clear view, offering significant advantages. For instance, grouped bar charts allow for detailed comparisons across multiple categories and sub-categories, and stacked bar charts help understand the breakdown of categories and total value. In contrast, dual-axis charts provide insights into relationships between two different metrics on the same graph. Line charts are great for showing trends over time. Also, multiple datasets can be presented and compared, and bubble charts add an extra layer of information by incorporating data such as size or intensity. Funnel

charts are useful for visualizing processes and spotting where things might be going wrong. At the same time, heat maps are great for highlighting data intensity, especially when dealing with a large number of variables. Overall, these advanced visualization techniques make interpreting data accurately and making informed decisions easier, providing a clearer picture than simpler methods.

For each insight, it is crucial to identify the required data and choose the right visualization technique. This analysis demonstrates the importance of considering data types and visualization's primary purpose/goal while selecting appropriate visualization techniques. All the recommended visualizations are useful for gaining insights; however, the most effective visualization techniques are tailored to the specific needs of the managers, ensuring that the data is presented most effectively for their decision-making processes.

6 Discussion

In this study, an overview of various insights that bank managers seek from two specific banking processes, the loan approval process and the customer onboarding process, and the visualization techniques they use to achieve these insights were collected. Then, the suitability of these techniques was evaluated based on academic literature, and recommendations on the most appropriate technique to achieve specific insight were made.

This research aims to evaluate the data visualization techniques currently used by bank managers, compare them with proven methods from the literature, and recommend the most appropriate technique for extracting specific insights from banking processes. The study seeks to guide managers in the banking sector in selecting and using the right data visualization techniques to improve decision-making and operational efficiency.

The evaluation results on the loan approval process demonstrate that choosing an appropriate visualization technique is crucial for effectively communicating specific insights. Grouped charts excel in comparing multiple categories simultaneously, making them ideal for showing and comparing variations in loan application turnaround times across different periods and loan types, helping identify bottlenecks and improving process efficiency. Dual-axis charts (which have grouped bars and line graphs) help compare two datasets and present trends or any relationship between two datasets over time, providing a comprehensive view of how changes in application volume impact approval rates, aiding in capacity planning and resource allocation. Stacked bar charts provide a clear representation of the distribution of total costs per loan along with the breakdown of cost, making it easier to identify which cost components are most significant and assist in identifying cost-saving opportunities. Line charts effectively track changes over time, thus being the best choice for trend analysis to help predict future loan demand. Bubble charts, with their ability to represent three dimensions of data, offer a comprehensive view of loan portfolios and performance metrics. They enable a detailed analysis of factors such as loan portfolio composition, default rate, loan types, or risk categories and guide risk management. In a nutshell, the evaluation results indicate that grouped charts are effective bar charts for loan application turnaround time, dual-axis charts for loan application volume and approval rate, stacked bar charts for loan portfolio and performance.

The evaluation results on the customer onboarding process demonstrate that grouped charts provide a detailed comparison of turnaround times across different periods and customer types, helping to identify bottlenecks or inefficiencies and improve process efficiency. Stacked bar charts offer a clear visual representation of customer preferences for onboarding channels, aiding in determining the most and least popular methods. Funnel charts are particularly effective for visualizing customer drop-off points, showing at which point the most significant attrition occurs. Grouped bar charts facilitate easy comparison of customer satisfaction levels, while grouped charts allow easy comparison of types and frequency of errors, however, if the number of errors is too high a heat map is most appropriate to use. In a nutshell, the evaluation indicates that grouped charts, stacked bar charts, funnel charts, grouped bar charts, grouped bar charts/or heatmaps are effective in presenting these insights: customer onboarding time, preferred channels to onboard by customers, customer drop-off point and its rate, customer satisfaction level and types of errors occurred and their frequency respectively.

The interviews and evaluation results indicate that the visualization techniques currently employed by managers are useful for deriving specific insights. However, literature suggests alternative visualization techniques can provide more detailed and precise information, making it easier to spot insights. These recommended techniques, including improved versions of graphs and charts, convey information more clearly and efficiently, enhancing the ability to gain specific insights.

The findings from this study align well with existing research in the field of data visualization. The study's results are consistent with the research emphasizing the importance of selecting appropriate visualization techniques based on data type and visualization purpose. For instance, [66] some researchers have emphasized the importance of choosing the appropriate technique to achieve specific insight, considering the data type and the user's intended purpose. The study confirms the significance of trends and comparisons in data visualization, as noted by [11]. The results show that managers frequently seek to understand trends in loan approvals and customer onboarding processes, which aligns with [11]'s observation that such insights are highly valuable for decision-making. The evaluation of various visualization techniques supports the conclusions of [56] and [66]. These researchers emphasized the effectiveness of bar charts, grouped charts, doughnut charts, bubble charts, and line charts for presenting quantitative data. This study found similar results, highlighting the utility of these techniques in visualizing different metrics such as loan turnaround times and customer satisfaction levels. Using dual-axis charts to compare loan application volumes and approval rates aligns with the existing literature recommending dual-axis charts for comparing two related datasets with different units[72]. Stacked bar charts were effective for cost breakdowns per loan, consistent with previous research that advocates for their use in showing parts of a whole. The findings validate the use of funnel charts for visualizing customer drop-off points, as endorsed by [68], [69], [70]. These charts effectively illustrate the progression through various process stages, which is crucial for identifying where significant reduction occurs in the customer onboarding process.

Practitioners, particularly in the banking sector, can use these findings to enhance their decision-making process. Most importantly, they can use the overview of recommended visualization techniques to get more accurate insights effectively. Managers can use the presented overview as guidance to select an appropriate technique based on their purpose. The implications of these findings are significant for bank managers and decision-makers managing the loan approval process and customer onboarding process. By utilizing the most effective visualization techniques, managers can enhance their ability to interpret and understand data and make informed decisions. They can get more precise insights into critical performance metrics, enabling more informed decision-making. Effective visualizations can help identify patterns of loan default, enable accurate risk assessments, identify bottlenecks and inefficiencies, enable areas for process improvement, identify trends, aid in predicting future loan demand, and enable proper resource allocations. In addition, effective visualization helps identify customers' pain points and areas for improvement, leading to a smoother onboarding experience. This includes identifying and addressing bottlenecks in the onboarding process, reducing delays and errors, and improving efficiency. Additionally, it helps detect suspicious patterns, which is crucial for fraud detection. Integrating customer feedback into the onboarding process allows for continuous improvement and personalization of services. In a nutshell, by utilizing the most effective visualization techniques, managers can get deeper insights into the process performance, identify bottlenecks and areas for process improvement, and make data-driven decisions to enhance customer experience.

While this study provides valuable insights into using specific visualization techniques to visualize process data, it is not without limitations. These include the potential lack of generalizability to other domains due to the study's focus on two specific banking processes – loan approval and customer onboarding. The insights gathered from interviews are subject to personal biases, and the dependence on subjective assessment to evaluate visualization techniques may introduce bias. The sample size and scope were limited, potentially affecting the robustness and applicability of the findings. Additionally, there is not a single "best" visualization, as it is heavily dependent on the purpose and available data types, and this research serves more as a guidance.

7 Conclusion

In the rapidly evolving banking sector, banks increasingly leverage large volumes of data generated from various digital channels to improve their services and make informed business decisions. The critical nature of these decisions necessitates accurate and effective data visualization techniques to interpret complex datasets and extract actionable insights.

Despite the significance of data visualization in the banking sector, there is a significant gap in the literature regarding the most effective visualization techniques designed to gain insights from critical processes such as loan approval and customer onboarding. This research was essential for identifying the most suitable visualization techniques to present clear and precise insights for enhancing operational efficiency and decision-making in the banking sector.

This study has provided a comprehensive overview of various data visualization techniques, focusing on their applicability and effectiveness. Then, data visualization techniques were evaluated against the goal of achieving specific loan approval, and customer onboarding process insights based on the academic literature and recommendations were provided. This research contributes to understanding which visualization techniques are most suitable for presenting data related to specific insights based on the purpose and available data within the context of banking business processes.

Interviews were conducted with bank managers to identify the key insights that they seek from the loan approval and customer onboarding processes and the techniques they use to gain these insights. Subsequently, various visualization techniques—including dual-axis charts, grouped charts, stacked bar charts, line charts, bubble charts, scatter plots, heat maps, and funnel charts—were assessed for their ability to provide these insights. This evaluation was grounded in the literature review results and practical applications in presenting specific insights to ensure a robust comparison.

The findings indicated that specific visualization techniques are more effective for particular insights. For instance, dual-axis charts were determined to be optimal for contrasting loan application volumes and approval rates, while funnel charts effectively emphasized customer drop-off points. These findings resolve the research problem by providing guidelines on which visualization techniques are suitable for which purposes, as there is no single "best" visualization technique to achieve specific insights using banking data. Ultimately, this research underscores that data visualization stands as an important instrument for managers in the banking sector as it enables them to dig into business processes and make informed decisions by presenting data in a visually understandable manner. Consequently, more precise and insightful decision-making is facilitated.

Despite the valuable insights it provides, this research does have several limitations. Findings may only apply to some sectors due to the exclusive emphasis on two particular banking processes. Additionally, the study relied on subjective assessments from a limited sample size of bank managers, which could introduce bias. The evaluation of visualization techniques was also subjective, which may affect the perceived effectiveness of different techniques.

Future research could extend this work by investigating a broader range of banking processes and integrating more samples of respondents. Furthermore, the effectiveness of various visualization techniques could be validated using objective assessments such as experiments where banking managers could evaluate their current techniques against your recommended techniques. Further, future research could investigate the impact of user expertise on the effectiveness of different visualization techniques, as preferences and needs of users may vary, and provide insights into how to tailor visualizations to various audiences. In addition, future research may explore the effectiveness of these visualization techniques across other domains with different data types.

Acknowledgments. I want to express my heartfelt gratitude to my promoter, Prof. Dr. Benoit Depaire, and my mentor, Miss Leen Jooken, from the bottom of my heart for their invaluable guidance and support throughout this project. I am deeply thankful to my husband, Paribartan Poudel, for his unwavering support and understanding and to my family members for their continuous encouragement and love.

8 References

- S. Rozsnyai, G. T. Lakshmanan, V. Muthusamy, R. Khalaf, and M. J. Duftler, "Business Process Insight: An Approach and Platform for the Discovery and Analysis of End-to-End Business Processes," in 2012 Annual SRII Global Conference (SRII), IEEE, Apr. 2012, pp. 80–89. doi: 10.1109/SRII.2012.20.
- [2] A. Khan, A. Ghose, H. Dam, and A. Syed, "A survey of process-oriented data science and analytics for supporting business process management," Feb. 2023, doi: 10.48550/ARXIV.2301.10398.
- [3] D. Borrego and M. T. Gómez-López, "Diagnosing Business Processes," in *Fault Diagnosis of Dynamic Systems*, T. Escobet, A. Bregon, B. Pulido, and V. Puig, Eds., Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2019, pp. 389–408. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-030-17728-7_16
- [4] A. U. Fox, "From Data to Insights: Shaping Data to Work for Us," in *Social Media Analytics Strategy*, Berkeley, CA: Apress, 2022, pp. 23–48. [Online]. Available: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4842-8306-6_2
- [5] S. LaValle, E. Lesser, R. Shockley, M. S. Hopkins, and N. Kruschwitz, "Big data, analytics and the path from insights to value," *MIT Sloan Manag. Rev.*, 2010.
- [6] D. Kiron, P. K. Prentice, and R. B. Ferguson, "The Analytics Mandate," *MIT Sloan Manag. Rev.*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 1–25.
- [7] C. North, "Toward measuring visualization insight," *IEEE Comput. Graph. Appl.*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 6–9, Apr. 2006, doi: 10.1109/MCG.2006.70.
- [8] P. Saraiya, C. North, and K. Duca, "An Insight-Based Methodology for Evaluating Bioinformatics Visualizations," *IEEE Trans. Vis. Comput. Graph.*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 443–456, Apr. 2005, doi: 10.1109/TVCG.2005.53.
- M. Chen *et al.*, "Data, Information, and Knowledge in Visualization," *IEEE Comput. Graph. Appl.*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 12–19, Apr. 2009, doi: 10.1109/MCG.2009.6.
- [10] E. Zgraggen, Z. Zhao, R. Zeleznik, and T. Kraska, "Investigating the Effect of the Multiple Comparisons Problem in Visual Analysis," in *CHI '18: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–12. doi: 10.1145/3173574.3174053.
- [11] E. K. Choe, B. Lee, and M. C. Schraefel, "Characterizing visualization insights from quantified selfers"

personal data presentations," *IEEE Comput. Graph. Appl.*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 28–37, Apr. 2015, doi: 10.1109/MCG.2015.51.

- [12] S. Pramanik and S. K. Bandyopadhyay, "Analysis of Big Data," in *Encyclopedia of Data Science and Machine Learning*, J. Wang, Ed., IGI Global, 2022, pp. 97–115. [Online]. Available: https://services.igi-global.com/resolvedoi/resolve.aspx?doi=10.4018/978-1-7998-9220-5.ch006
- [13] C. R. Ohlert and B. E. Weißenberger, "Beating the base-rate fallacy: An experimental approach on the effectiveness of different information presentation formats," *J. Manag. Control*, vol. 26, pp. 51–80, 2015, doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00187-015-0205-2.
- I. S. Murgatroyd, A. Hodgson, and R. H. Weston, "Enterprise modelling in support of business process visualization and improvement," *Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part B J. Eng. Manuf.*, vol. 212, no. 8, pp. 621–633, Feb. 1998, doi: 10.1243/0954405981515897.
- S. K. V et al., "Data Visualization Techniques," Mach. Learn. Algorithms Intell. Data Anal., vol. 2, no. 7, pp. 1861–1871, Mar. 2022, doi: 10.36647/mlaida/2022.12.b1.ch013.
- [16] O. Kharakhash, "Data visualization: Transforming complex data into actionable insights," *Autom. Technol. Bus. Process.*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 4–12, Feb. 2023, doi: 10.15673/atbp.v15i2.2520.
- [17] A. Agrawal, Y. S. Rathore, and A. Tomar, "Data Analysis and Visualization: Unveiling Insights through Numbers and Graphics," in *Recent Trends in Data Analysis and Data Visualization*, D. J. S. Kushwah, D. S. K. Gupta, and D. R. Kumar, Eds., Iterative International Publishers, Selfypage Developers Pvt Ltd, 2024, pp. 47–56. [Online]. Available: https://www.iipseries.org/viewpaper.php?pid=1404&pt=data-analysis-andvisualization-unveiling-insights-through-numbers-and-graphics
- O. G. Semenyuta and I. E. Shapiro, "Risks of Banking Transformation in Digitalization," in *Technological Trends in the AI Economy*, vol. 625, E. N. Makarenko, N. G. Vovchenko, and E. N. Tishchenko, Eds., Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore, 2023, pp. 357–362. [Online]. Available: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-981-19-7411-3_38
- [19] M. Inamdar, "Exploring the Potentials of Smart Data Analytics in the Banking Industry," *Manag. Account.* J., vol. 58, no. 1, p. 68, Apr. 2023, doi: 10.33516/maj.v58i1.68-69p.
- [20] D. Salwan, "Business Intelligence in Financial Institutions," in *Computing For Nations Development*, 2008.[Online]. Available: chrome-

extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/http://bvicam.in/INDIACom/news/INDIACom 2008 Proceedings/pdfs/papers/304.pdf

- [21] M. H. Sazu and S. A. Jahan, "How big data analytics is transforming the finance industry," *Bankarstvo*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 147–172, Jul. 2022, doi: 10.5937/bankarstvo2202147H.
- [22] S. Al-Fedaghi and M. BehBehani, "Modeling banking processes," in 2018 International Conference on Information and Computer Technologies (ICICT), IEEE, Mar. 2018, pp. 40–46. doi: 10.1109/INFOCT.2018.8356838.
- [23] M. S. Marikar and H. M. N. D. Bandara, "An analysis of data driven, decision-making capabilities of managers in banks," May 2020, doi: 10.48550/ARXIV.2007.01862.
- [24] V. Postolache, "Optimization of business processes in banks through flexible workflow," *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.*, vol. 227, no. 1, p. 12102, May 2017, doi: 10.1088/1757-899X/227/1/012102.
- [25] M. C. da Silva, G. M. Tavares, M. C. Gritti, P. Ceravolo, and S. Barbon Junior, "Using Process Mining to Reduce Fraud in Digital Onboarding," *FinTech*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 120–137, May 2023, doi: 10.3390/fintech2010009.
- [26] C. Madhwacharyula and S. Ramdas, "Customer Onboarding A Methodology," in Scaling Customer Success, Berkeley, CA: Apress, 2023, pp. 75–85. [Online]. Available: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4842-9192-4_4
- [27] W. Rodgers and L. W. Johnson, "Integrating Credit Models Using Accounting Information With Loan Officers' Decision Processes," *Account. Financ.*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 1–22, May 1988, doi: 10.1111/j.1467-629X.1988.tb00142.x.
- [28] K. Roszbach, "Bank Lending Policy, Credit Scoring, and the Survival of Loans," *Rev. Econ. Stat.*, vol. 86, no. 4, pp. 946–958, May 2004, doi: 10.1162/0034653043125248.
- [29] A. D. Bautista, L. Wangikar, and S. M. K. Akbar, "Process Mining-Driven Optimization of a Consumer Loan Approvals Process," in *Business Process Management Workshops*, vol. 132, M. La Rosa and P. Soffer, Eds., Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013, pp. 219–220. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-36285-9_24
- [30] P. Arpasat, "Data-driven analysis of loan approval service of a bank using process mining," in 2022 20th International Conference on ICT and Knowledge Engineering (ICT&KE), IEEE, May 2022, pp. 1–6. doi:

10.1109/ICTKE55848.2022.9982936.

- [31] E. Purificato, F. Lorenzo, F. Fallucchi, and E. W. De Luca, "The Use of Responsible Artificial Intelligence Techniques in the Context of Loan Approval Processes," *Int. J. Human–Computer Interact.*, vol. 39, no. 7, pp. 1543–1562, May 2023, doi: 10.1080/10447318.2022.2081284.
- B. Nicoletti, "Processes in Banking 5.0," in *Banking 5.0*, Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2021, pp. 303–325. [Online]. Available: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-030-75871-4_9
- [33] O. N. (OeNB), "Credit approval process and credit risk management." 2004. [Online]. Available: file:///Users/binita/Downloads/credit_approval_process_tcm16-23748.pdf
- [34] O. Embarak, "The importance of data visualization in business intelligence," in *Data Analysis and Visualization Using Python*, Berkeley, CA: Apress, 2018, pp. 85–124. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4842-4109-7_2
- [35] D. Keim, G. Andrienko, J.-D. Fekete, C. Görg, J. Kohlhammer, and G. Melançon, "Visual Analytics: Definition, Process, and Challenges," in *Information Visualization*, vol. 4950, A. Kerren, J. T. Stasko, J.-D.
 Fekete, and C. North, Eds., Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2008, pp. 154–175. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-540-70956-5_7
- [36] K. Kubrak, F. Milani, and A. Nolte, "A visual approach to support process analysts in working with process improvement opportunities," *Bus. Process Manag. J.*, vol. 29, no. 8, pp. 101–132, Feb. 2023, doi: 10.1108/BPMJ-10-2021-0631.
- [37] A. A. Pise and D. T. Singampalli, "An Introduction to Data Visualisation: An Overview of Visualizing Data," in *Advances in Computational Intelligence and Robotics*, K. K. Hiran, K. Hemachandran, A. Pise, and B. J. Rabi, Eds., IGI Global, 2023, pp. 34–53. [Online]. Available: https://services.igi-global.com/resolvedoi/resolve.aspx?doi=10.4018/978-1-6684-6519-6.ch003
- [38] S. Palanimalai and I. Paramasivam, "Big data analytics bring new insights and higher business value an experiment carried out to divulge sales forecasting solutions," *Int. J. Adv. Intell. Paradig.*, vol. 8, no. 2, p. 207, Feb. 2016, doi: 10.1504/IJAIP.2016.075728.
- [39] L. Zhou, "An introduction to data visualization," *Highlights Sci. Eng. Technol.*, vol. 31, pp. 60–63, Feb. 2023, doi: 10.54097/hset.v31i.4813.
- [40] E. L. G. Ibañez, "Data Comics for Business Process Visualization," in Digital Transformation on

Manufacturing, Infrastructure & Service, vol. 684, I. Ilin, M. M. Petrova, and T. Kudryavtseva, Eds., Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland, 2023, pp. 759–771. [Online]. Available: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-031-32719-3_57

- [41] S. Dospan and A. Khrykova, "Visualization of business processes through data comics," in *International Scientific Conference*, I. Ilin, M. M. Petrova, and T. Kudryavtseva, Eds., Springer Nature Switzerland, Mar. 2023, pp. 745–758. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-32719-3_56
- [42] M. P. Cota, M. R. G. Castro, and J. A. Dominguez, "Importance of visualization usage in enterprise decision making environements," in 2014 9th Iberian Conference on Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI), IEEE, Feb. 2014, pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1109/CISTI.2014.6876973.
- [43] K. S. Teong, Y. En Tan, M. Shabbir, S.-L. Chua, and L. K. Foo, "Finding Insights through Interactive Visualization," in *ICIT 2018: IoT and Smart City*, ACM, Feb. 2018, pp. 49–53. doi: 10.1145/3301551.3301581.
- [44] M. N. O. Sadiku, A. E. Shadare, S. M. Musa, and C. M. Akujuobi, "Data visualization," *Int. J. Eng. Res. Adv. Technol.*, vol. 2, no. 12, pp. 11–16, 2016, [Online]. Available: chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Adebowale-Shadare/publication/311597028_DATA_VISUALIZATION/links/5851945608aef7d0309f20a7/DATA-VISUALIZATION.pdf
- [45] Q. Li, "Overview of Data Visualization," in *Embodying Data*, Singapore: Springer Singapore, 2020, pp. 17–
 47. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-981-15-5069-0_2
- [46] M. O'Neill, J. Morgan, and K. Burke, "Process Visualization of Manufacturing Execution System (MES) Data," in 2021 IEEE SmartWorld, Ubiquitous Intelligence & Computing, Advanced & Trusted Computing, Scalable Computing & Communications, Internet of People and Smart City Innovation (SmartWorld/SCALCOM/UIC/ATC/IOP/SCI), IEEE, Feb. 2021, pp. 659–664. doi: 10.1109/SWC50871.2021.00098.
- [47] D. Srivastava, "An introduction to data visualization tools and techniques in various domains," *Int. J. Comput. Trends Technol.*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 125–130, May 2023, doi: 10.14445/22312803/IJCTT-V71I4P116.
- [48] L. Coppolino, S. D'Antonio, L. Romano, F. Campanile, and A. V. De Carvalho, "Effective Visualization of a

Big Data Banking Application," in *Intelligent Interactive Multimedia Systems and Services*, vol. 40, E.
Damiani, R. J. Howlett, L. C. Jain, L. Gallo, and G. De Pietro, Eds., Cham: Springer International
Publishing, 2015, pp. 57–68. [Online]. Available: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-19830-9_6

- [49] C. Maçãs, E. Polisciuc, and P. Machado, "VaBank: Visual analytics for banking transactions," in 2020 24th International Conference Information Visualisation (IV), IEEE, May 2020, pp. 336–343. doi: 10.1109/IV51561.2020.00062.
- [50] A. Poddar, P. Kulkarni, and N. A. Natraj, "Application of big data for better decision management in banking," in 2023 International Conference on Sustainable Computing and Data Communication Systems (ICSCDS), IEEE, Mar. 2023, pp. 1404–1407. doi: 10.1109/ICSCDS56580.2023.10104706.
- [51] J. Duela and D. Sara, "Certain investigations on bank customer and relationship improvement using machine learning," in *Proceedings of the Fist International Conference on Advanced Scientific Innovation in Science, Engineering and Technology, ICASISET 2020, 16-17 May 2020, Chennai, India*, EAI, May 2021. doi: 10.4108/eai.16-5-2020.2304211.
- [52] A. Abu-Srhan, S. Al Zghoul, B. Alhammad, and R. Al-Sayyed, "Visualization and analysis in bank direct marketing prediction," *Int. J. Adv. Comput. Sci. Appl.*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 651–657, 2019.
- [53] Z. Niu, D. Cheng, L. Zhang, and J. Zhang, "Visual analytics for networked-guarantee loans risk management," in 2018 IEEE Pacific Visualization Symposium (PacificVis), IEEE, May 2018, pp. 160–169. doi: 10.1109/PacificVis.2018.00028.
- [54] J. B. Heaton, N. G. Polson, and J. H. Witte, "Deep Learning in Finance." arXiv, Jun. 17, 2016. doi: 10.48550/ARXIV.1602.06561.
- [55] P. S. Saini, A. Bhatnagar, and L. Rani, "Loan Approval Prediction using Machine Learning: A Comparative Analysis of Classification Algorithms," in 2023 3rd International Conference on Advance Computing and Innovative Technologies in Engineering (ICACITE), IEEE, Jun. 2023, pp. 1821–1826. doi: 10.1109/ICACITE57410.2023.10182799.
- [56] M. Khan and S. S. Khan, "Data and information visualization methods, and interactive mechanisms: A survey," *Int. J. Comput. Appl.*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 1–14, 2011, [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/264623537_Data_and_Information_Visualization_Methods_and_I nteractive_Mechanisms_A_Survey

- [57] K. Miller, "17 data visualization techniques all professionals should know," *Harvard Business School Online*. 2019. [Online]. Available: https://online.hbs.edu/blog/post/data-visualization-techniques
- [58] K. N. Mahajan and L. A. Gokhale, "Advanced charting techniques of microsoft excel 2016 aiming visualization," *Int. J. Comput. Sci. Eng.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 198–207, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.26438/ijcse/v7i1.198207.
- [59] J. Choy, V. Chawla, and L. Whitman, "Data visualization techniques:From basics to big data with SAS® visual analytics [White Paper]," SAS Institute Inc. [Online]. Available: https://www.sas.com/content/dam/SAS/bp_de/doc/whitepaper1/ba-wp-data-visualization-techniques-2252344.pdf
- [60] S. S. Ajibade and A. Adediran, "An overview of big data visualization techniques in data mining," Int. J. Comput. Sci. Inf. Technol. Res., vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 105–113, 2016.
- [61] P. Gandhi and J. Pruthi, "Data Visualization Techniques: Traditional Data to Big Data," in *Data Visualization*, S. M. Anouncia, H. A. Gohel, and S. Vairamuthu, Eds., Singapore: Springer Singapore, 2020, pp. 53–74. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-981-15-2282-6_4
- [62] M. Madalena, J. Keiko, E. Rabelo, and C. Franco, "Visualization Techniques: Which is the Most Appropriate in the Process of Knowledge Discovery in Data Base?," in *Advances in Data Mining Knowledge Discovery and Applications*, A. Karahoca, Ed., InTech, 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.intechopen.com/books/advances-in-data-mining-knowledge-discovery-andapplications/visualization-techniques-which-is-the-most-appropriate-in-the-process-of-knowledge-discoveryin-data
- [63] J. R. Dettori and D. C. Norvell, "The Anatomy of Data," *Glob. Spine J.*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 311–313, May 2018, doi: 10.1177/2192568217746998.
- [64] M. Franke, M. Knabben, J. Lang, S. Koch, and T. Blascheck, "A Comparative Study of Visualizations for Multiple Time Series," in 13th International Conference on Information Visualization Theory and Applications, SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Jun. 2022, pp. 103–112. doi: 10.5220/0010761700003124.
- [65] S. Kannan, P. Dongare, R. Garg, and S. Harsoor, "Describing and displaying numerical and categorical data," *Airway*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 64–70, May 2019, doi: 10.4103/ARWY.ARWY_24_19.

- [66] T. Munzner, *Visualization Analysis and Design*, 1st ed. New York: CRC Press, 2014. [Online]. Available: https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/mono/10.1201/b17511/visualization-analysis-design-tamara-munzner
- [67] E. R. Tufte, The Visual DIsplay of Quantitaive Information, 2nd ed. Graphics Press, 2001.
- [68] F. Nelli, "Funnel Charts with jqPlot," in *Beginning JavaScript Charts*, Berkeley, CA: Apress, 2013, pp. 283–286. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4302-6290-9_14
- [69] K. Mahajan and L. A. Gokhale, "Significance of digital data visualization tools in big data analysis for business decisions," *Int. J. Comput. Appl.*, vol. 165, no. 5, pp. 15–18, Apr. 2017, doi: 10.5120/ijca2017913858.
- [70] R. K. T V, N. D. V D., N. Kunduru, A. V. S. T, and T. Gupta, "Analysis of Customer Sales Data Using Numerous Data Visualization Techniques." Jun. 25, 2024. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.4781944.
- [71] P. Isenberg *et al.*, "A Study on Dual-Scale Data Charts To cite this version : A Study on Dual-Scale Data Charts," vol. 17, no. 12, 2011.
- [72] R. Brath, C. Hagerman, and E. Sorenson, "Why two y-axes (Y2Y): A case study for visual correlation with dual axes," in 2020 24th International Conference Information Visualisation (IV), IEEE, Jul. 2020, pp. 38–44. doi: 10.1109/IV51561.2020.00016.
- [73] M. D. C. Tongco, "Purposive sampling as a tool for informant selection," *Ethnobot. Res. Appl.*, vol. 5, pp. 147–158, 2007, doi: 10.17348/era.5.0.147-158.
- [74] N. Mathers, N. J. Fox, and A. Hunn, "Using interviews in a research project," in *Research Approaches in Primary Care*, Redcliffe Medical Press/Trent Focus, 2000, pp. 113–134. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/253117832_Using_Interviews_in_a_Research_Project
- [75] T. Cowger and J. Tritz, "Narrative analysis research: A tool for extension educators," *J. Ext.*, vol. 57, no. 6, 2019.
- J. Manning, "In Vivo Coding," in *The International Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods*, 1st ed., J. Matthes, C. S. Davis, and R. F. Potter, Eds., Wiley, 2017, pp. 1–2. [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0270